STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court
The Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Administrative Law Judge
Case No. 15-ALJ-15-0046-AP

JUN 07 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate case No.: 2016-000296

KENNETH GREEN, #116020.....RESPONDENT

v.

SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION,
PAROLE AND PARDON SERVICES,.....APPELLANT

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Tommy Evans, Jr.
Assistant General Counsel

**South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole and Pardon Services
P.O. Box 50666
Columbia, South Carolina 29250**

ATTORNEY FOR THE APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. Did the Court err in deciding that the Board's decision not to ratify the previous Parole Board decision was arbitrary and capricious?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 24, 1982, the Respondent along with his co-defendant were seated at a bar in Summerville, South Carolina, they observed the victim reveal a large amount of cash to pay for his drink. He then left the bar and proceed to the parking lot, the Respondent and co-defendant followed. The victim left in his vehicle, and was followed by the Respondent and his co-defendant. They forced the victim off the road along highway 165. The Respondent exited his vehicle, approached the victim armed with a shotgun, and shot the victim in the head killing him instantly. The Respondent took twenty dollars in cash, and another shotgun out of the victim's vehicle. The next day the victim's family members found his body on the side of the road.

At the conclusion of their investigation, the authorities arrested the Respondent and his co-defendant charging them with the offense of murder. On March 9, 1983, the Respondent appeared before the Honorable John Hamilton Smith for this offense. Upon conclusion of this appearance, the Court sentenced the Respondent to a term of incarceration for the remainder of his natural life. At the time the Respondent committed this offense South Carolina law allowed a person serving a life sentence for murder parole eligibility upon the service of twenty years.

The Respondent made his initial appearance on November 18, 1998. Upon the conclusion of this hearing the Board decided to deny parole. Since this initial denial the Respondent has appeared before the Board an additional fourteen times each resulting in a denial of parole. His most recent appearance occurred on March 11, 2015, parole was denied due to: 1) the nature and seriousness of the current offense; 2) an indication of violence in this or a previous offense; and, 3) a use of deadly weapon in this or a previous offense.

The Respondent notified the Appellant alleging that he received four affirmative votes, which pursuant to the South Carolina Supreme Court decision of *Barton v. S.C. Dept. of Probation*,

Parole and Pardon Services, 404 S.C. 395, 745 S.E.2d 110 (2013) would award parole. The Respondent petitioned the Board to be allowed to appear before them for a *Barton* hearing. He was allowed to appear before the Board in an attempt to prove that his prior decision should be ratified. On July 22, 2015, the Respondent appeared before the Board for a hearing pursuant to the *Barton* decision. During this hearing the Respondent provided affidavits from former Board members Bishop Sanco Rembert, Marlene T. McClain, and June Shissias. (R.p.2-p.5). He also provided affidavits of his father and brother. (R.p.6-p.7). Each of these affidavits proclaim that the Respondent received four votes upon the conclusion of the November 2000 parole hearing.

At the conclusion of this hearing the Board decided that the Appellant failed to reveal he received the required votes to be released on parole. The Board decided to deny the Respondent's request for a ratification of the previous Board decision.(R.p.11). Upon being notified of this denial the Respondent decided to file a notice of appeal before the Administrative Law Court (ALC). Within this appeal the Respondent argued that the decision of the Board was arbitrary and capricious, or characterized by abuse or discretion, or a clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. The Respondent also argued that it was unlawful for the Board to allow victim testimony.

The Appellant argued that this determination is left solely to the Parole Board, and the Respondent failed to present evidence that the decision was arbitrary and capricious. The Appellant further argued that pursuant to the South Carolina law and the victim's bill of rights, a victim must be notified as to any post-conviction hearing. The notification given to the victim was mandatory pursuant to South Carolina law.

Upon reviewing the briefs and arguments submitted by both parties, the Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III issued his decision on February 11, 2016.(R.p.13-p.19). Within this order Judge Anderson concluded that the Board failing to ratify the previous decision was contradictory to its

own policy, thereby, the decision was arbitrary. The ALC determined that the Board erred in failing to ratify the previous Board's four to two vote in favor of granting the Respondent parole. The lower Court decided that the case must be remanded back to the Board for it to proceed as if a provisional parole order had been issued.¹ Upon receiving this order the Appellant decided to file a notice of appeal before the South Carolina Court of Appeals. The Final Brief supporting the Appellant's arguments follows.

ARGUMENTS

1. The lower court erred in deciding that the final decision of the Board in not ratifying the previous decision was arbitrary.

The Respondent argued and the ALC agreed that upon the conclusion of this 2000 hearing he received the majority votes needed to be granted parole. At the time the Respondent committed this offense South Carolina law stated:

The Board may issue an order authorizing the parole which shall be signed either by a majority of its members or by all three members meeting as a parole panel on the case, ninety days prior to the effective date of the parole.

S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-645(Supp. 1984)

As part of the Omnibus Criminal Judge Improvement Act of 1986 additional language was added to state, "at least two-thirds of the members of the board must authorize and sign orders authorizing parole for persons convicted of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60." S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-645 (Supp. 2012). In *Barton*, the Supreme Court decided that requiring an inmate convicted prior to 1986 a two-thirds vote to be granted parole is a violation of ex post facto.

In *Barton* the Appellant Thalma Barton was serving a life sentence for the offense of murder. She appeared before the Parole Board on January 8, 2012, of the six members present,

¹ Because the prior issue was dispositive the ALC decided to decline to address the second issue pursuant to *Young v. Charleston Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 397 S.C. 303, 311, 725 S.E.2d 107, 111 (2012).

four votes were made in the affirmative. *Barton*, at 399. The existing laws required a two-thirds vote of all seven members, so the Board determined Ms. Barton failed to receive the required number of votes to be released on parole. Upon receiving the order of denial, Ms. Barton appealed. The South Carolina Supreme Court decided that since the law existing at the time of the offense allowed a majority, it was unlawful to deny parole.

Due to this decision the Respondent is of the opinion that he should have been granted parole. Unlike the Appellant in *Barton*, the Board believed the Respondent failed to prove he received four votes in the affirmative. Within his reply brief the Respondent argued that the only evidence presented was by him. The Board is not required to present any evidence that he failed to receive four votes, that is due to the fact the burden of proof lies with the Respondent in this case. In administrative proceedings the general rule is that an Appellant for relief, or a privilege has the burden of proof and the burden of proof test rest upon who files a claim with an administrative agency to establish that required conditions of eligibility have been met. *Leventis v. South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control*, 340 S.C. 118, 530 S.E.2d 643 (2000). This determination is left up to the Board which cannot be remanded by the Court. The Appellant's argues that procedure was followed, and the Board made the decision that he failed to prove he received the votes needed to be allowed parole.

The ALC decided that the evidence presented to the Board should have been accepted as the Respondent receiving four affirmative votes, and failing to make this decision must be considered contradictory to Department policy, thereby, making the decision arbitrary. The Appellant argues that this decision is solely factual and has no law pertaining to it. The General Assembly has always left parole decisions completely up to the Parole Board. Pursuant to South

Carolina law the court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight on the evidence on questions of fact. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(Supp. 2015).

The lower Court decided that the decision was arbitrary so it has the ability to remand the case back to the Parole Board.² The Appellant previously argued that the decision is left totally up to the Board, and if the Board decides the affidavits were done in error, or the prior board members were mistaken they have the right not accept the evidence presented and deny ratification. The Court decided this decision was contrary to the Board policy, and if they made this decision then they would have to refuse all *Barton* requests. The Appellant disagrees, there have been individuals who have presented what the Board feels is sufficient evidence, not conjecture from fifteen year memories of Board members, and allowed a ratification of a previous Board decision. Parole is not a guaranteed right so ratifications have not occurred often, but they have occurred only with the Board's decision, not the Courts.

The ALC must follow the rules of the Administrative Procedures Act which follows the substantial evidence rule. "Substantial evidence" sufficient to support a finding of the administrative law court is evidence which considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached. *Risher v. South Carolina Dept. of Health and Environmental Control*, 393 S.C. 198, 712 S.E.2d 428 (2011). The ALC is of the opinion that the Board failed to make a reasonable decision in the denial to ratify parole. This decision must be considered reasonable considering the time elapsed between hearing and petition. If there exists any doubt that he was given the four votes, it is reasonable for the Board to not allow the Respondent parole. The possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions

² The Court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial right of the Appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are: arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse or discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(6)(f)(Supp. 2015)

from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's finding from being supported by substantial evidence. *Jervy v. Martint Environmental, Inc.*, 396 S.C. 442, 721 S.E.2d 469 (S.C. App. 2012)

The ALC came to the conclusion that the Board must have made the decision due to the affidavits submitted; however, this is not the only information the Board used in making this consideration. The Respondent appeared before the Board a total of twelve times after his 2000 hearing. There has been no evidence presented that he ever received the four votes again. If the Appellant received four votes in 2000, it should be safe to assume he received it in a subsequent hearing, which was never presented to the Board. The matter of prior and subsequent hearings must be considered while the Board is making a determination there was sufficient votes given to the Respondent. Substantial evidence to support an administrative agency decision is not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case but is evidence which considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the administrative agency reached. *Bentley v. Spartanburg County*, 398 S.C. 418, 730 S.E.2d 296 (2012).

The ALC within its order found that there was "uncontracted evidence in the record to support the prior Board's finding of four favorable votes, and that number was the required number of favorable votes for parole." The Respondent argues that this is a matter of fact that can only be decided by the Board. Pursuant to *Cooper*, the Respondent is only required a hearing where the Board will consider all of the evidence presented. The ALC is only allowed to determine if the Respondent was allowed a hearing and if the procedure created by the Board was followed. The ALC is not in the position to determine the findings the Board should make.

The ALC determined that the Board contradicted its own policy by not finding that the Respondent failed to prove that it received four votes in the affirmative. Pursuant to Department policy an inmate challenging a prior denial of parole pursuant to *Barton*, would be required to go through a three pronged procedure to determine whether or not he has received the required votes. First, the office of parole support services staff will investigate to verify if the offender possibly received these votes; second, the results of this investigation will be forwarded to the office of legal services to verify that it qualifies under *Barton*; and, third, a during a full board day the Board will hold a *Barton* hearing. Only upon the conclusion of this hearing will the Board make a determination whether or not sufficient evidence was revealed to support the allegations. This decision is solely the Board's and cannot be reversed or determined by the Courts. The Court is only in a position to determine as to the procedure and if it was followed. But the Courts do not have the ability to award parole. Undoubtedly, the Parole Board is the sole authority with respect to decisions regarding the grant or denial of parole. *Cooper v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 377 S.C. 489, 661 S.E.2d 106 (2008). If the Board realized sufficient evidence was presented to make a Parole determination they would have granted the Respondent's parole; however, they failed to make this finding, which cannot be reversed by a decision of the Courts. An administrative law judge shall not hear an appeal from an inmate in the custody of the Department of Corrections involving the denial of parole to a potentially eligible inmate by the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-600(D)(Supp. 2015).

2. The Court erred in ordering that the Board create an order ratifying the previous decision, this can only be determined by the Parole Board.

Within his order the ALC made the determination to remand the case back to the Board for only the purpose of further proceedings to ratify the previous decision, and establish a conditional parole pursuant to Section 24-21-645. The Board is allowed to issue a provisional parole order

which shall include the terms and conditions, if any, to be met by the prisoner during the provisional period and terms and conditions to be met upon parole. S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-645(Supp. 2015). However, this statute also states that “the Board may issue an order authorizing the parole which much be signed either by a majority of its members or by all three members meeting as a parole panel.” S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-645(Supp. 2015). The General Assembly only gives the authority to issue a parole order to the Board. The ALC was never given the authority to order the issuance of Parole Board orders. Parole eligibility is not a matter within the jurisdiction of the trial court, but falls within the province of the Board or Probation, Parole, and Pardon. *Brown v. State*, 306 S.C. 381, 412 S.E.2d 399 (1991). Of course the ALC and the Respondent’s position is that the Court is not authorizing the Board to grant parole, but that parole was already granted at a previous hearing; however, that determination must be left entirely to the current Board. The Board is the party that will sign the final order releasing the Respondent on parole, so they are responsible for his release and any actions he may make in the future. The Board shall issue an order authorizing the parole which must be signed by at least a majority of its members with terms and conditions. S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-650 (Supp. 2015). The General Assembly never gave the authority to the Courts to grant parole that remains totally the authority of the Parole Board.

It is the Appellant’s position that the ALC was only authorized to examine the procedure that was followed by the Board, not the final decision. If the Board failed to allow the hearing thereby violating policy, that decision could be remanded back to the Board for an order of a hearing to be conducted on the Respondent’s behalf. However, that was not the decision of the ALC. The decision of the ALC was to totally force the Board to make a decision granting an individual parole. This is not the authority given to the ALC. The ALC is of the position that there was sufficient evidence to reveal that the Respondent received four votes: however, that was not