STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court
The Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Administrative Law Judge
Case No. 15-ALJ-15-0046-AP

RECEIVED
JUN 13 2016
SC Court of Appeals

APPELLATE CASE No.: 2016-000296

KENNETH GREEN, #116020

RESPONDENT.

v.

SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE AND PARDON
SERVICES,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

TOMMY A. THOMAS
P.O. Box 88
Irmo, SC 29063
(803) 732-5507
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

TOMMY EVANS, JR.
Assistant General Counsel
South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole and Pardon Services
P.O. Box 50666
Columbia, SC 29250
(803) 734-9220
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the Court err in deciding that the Board's decision not to ratify the previous Board's decision was arbitrary and capricious?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 29, 2000, the Appellant appeared before the Parole Board and was denied parole with a vote of four (4) to two (2). Prior to the South Carolina Supreme Court's decision in 2013 in the case of Barton v. S.C. Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, 404 SC 395, 745 S.E. 2d 110 (2013) the Parole Board required violent offenders to receive a vote of five (5) Board members to be granted parole.

After the Barton decision, the Department developed a procedure to review previous cases to determine if they qualified for release under Barton. (South Carolina Board of Pardons and Pardon, Operations manual, January, 2014)

Pursuant to that procedure, the Office of Parole Support Services would verify that the offender received the proper number of votes and the Office of Legal Services would verify that it qualified under Barton. The Board would then ratify the vote and impose any conditions that it felt necessary. A special order of Parole would be signed by the Board.

The Board met on July 22, 2015 and decided not to ratify the Appellant's vote and notified the Appellant that he would again be heard and considered for parole on or about March 11, 2016.

This matter was appealed to the Administrative Law court filed on August 21, 2015. The Administrative Law Court issued its opinion on February 11, 2016. The Appellant appealed that decision to the Court of Appeals.

The issues presented to the Administrative Law Court were:

- 1. That the only evidence before the Parole Board was that the Appellant received four (4) votes on November 29, 2000 in favor of parole. That there is no evidence to support the Board's decision not to ratify the vote of 2000.**
- 2. That the Parole Board violated policy by its failure to ratify the previous Board's vote of November 29, 2000 and by taking additional testimony of the victim opposition on July 22, 2015.**

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent is serving a life sentence for murder. He received this sentence in 1983 in Dorchester County. He was sentenced to life imprisonment with a twenty (20) year parole eligibility. He has currently served thirty three (33) years on this sentence. He has received three (3) disciplinaries in the thirty three (33) years of incarceration.

On November 29, 2000, the Respondent went up for parole. There were six (6) member of the Parole Board present at the time of the vote. He received a vote of four (4) to two (2) and his parole was rejected. The vote count was not designated as four (4) in favor or four (4) against.

Pursuant to the South Carolina Supreme Court's decision in Barton, the Respondent had to receive a simple majority or a simple majority of the members present. Prior to Barton, Respondent would have needed to obtain five (5) votes to be granted parole.

The Respondent received and submitted sworn Affidavits of three prior members of the Parole Board (ROA pp. 2-7). These prior members stated under oath that they voted in favor of release of the Respondent. One member, Mrs. Marlene McClain remembered that an additional member, Mr. Hodges (now deceased) voted in favor of release (ROA pp 3-4). This makes four (4) votes in favor of release.

By letter dated July 22, 2015, the Board voted not to ratify the previous vote.

ARGUMENT

Did the Court err in deciding that the Board's decision not to ratify the Previous Board's decision was arbitrary and capricious?

The Lower Court's decision provides a step by step analysis of the issues now before this Court.

First the Lower Court found that in Barton, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that the version of §24-21-645 existing at the time of an inmate's offense is what is applicable at an inmate's parole hearing.

Following the Barton decision, the Department began holding Barton hearings. The purpose of these hearings as set forth on page 35, Section 10 of the Department's January, 2014 Operations Manual is to determine whether an inmate received the proper number of votes pursuant to Barton.

In this case, the 1984 version of §24-21-645 was the law at the time of Respondent's offense and predates the Omnibus Criminal Justice Improvement Act of 1986. Thus the Respondent is only required to receive a simple majority of the Board.

In this case, the Respondent provided Affidavits from Bishop Sanco Rembert (ROA p. 2), Marlene T. McClain (ROA p. 3-4) and June Shissias (ROA p. 5) all of whom were Board members at the November 29, 2000 hearing. These members attest that they voted in favor of Respondent's parole. Ms. McClain also attests to the fact that J.P. Hodges, who has since died, also voted in favor of the Respondent being granted parole.

The Court noted that both Rembert and Shissias attested to the fact that they listened to the recording of the November 29, 2000 hearing which refreshed their recollection that they voted in favor of the Respondent being granted parole. Rembert

and Shissias also specifically explained that the Board had a tradition at that time of taking the yes votes first.

The Lower Court then found that there is nothing in the record that suggests that the Affidavits are not credible.

The Court concluded by stating that:

“I find that there was uncontradicted evidence in the record to support the prior Board’s finding of four favorable votes, and that number was the required number of favorable votes for parole, I find that the current Board’s decision not to ratify the previous Board’s four-to-two decision contradicted its own policy and was therefore arbitrary.” (ROA p. 17)

“if the Board can reject all affidavits concerning past parole hearings based merely on the fact that the parole hearings happened years ago, then the Barton hearings would have no meaning, instead being subject to the whim and caprice of the Board.” (ROA p. 17)

The Appellant argues in their brief:

a) That the decision to grant parole is left totally up to the Board and “if the Board decides the affidavits were in error, or the prior Board members were mistaken, they have the right not to accept the evidence.”

b) That the Administrative Law Court came to the conclusion that the Board in their rejection made this decision solely on the affidavits submitted.

“However, this is not the only information the Board used in making this decision... The matter of prior and subsequent hearings must be considered while the Board is making a determination there were sufficient votes given to the Respondent.”

c) That the Board’s Procedural Policy for Barton hearings gives the Board the authority to accept or deny the request of the Respondent for parole.

Clearly these arguments are inconsistent with the Supreme Court's ruling in Barton and the Department's own established policy.

To quote the Lower Court "if the Board can reject all affidavits concerning past parole hearings based merely on the fact that the Parole hearings happened years ago, then the Barton hearing would have no meaning." (ROA p. 17) The Respondent would go further to argue that this line of thought would render the Barton decision itself without meaning.

Pursuant to the Operations Manual of the South Carolina Board of Pardons and Pardons the Board may convene a Barton hearing. At that hearing the Board may impose any conditions on the offender as it feels necessary. The policy goes further to state that the Board **will** (emphasis added) then sign a special Barton order of parole which ratifies the votes of the previous Board members which would have granted conditional parole.

It is arguable that the operations manual does not provide for or allow the Board to determine the validity of the votes. The Policy states that the office of Parole Support Services staff will investigate to verify that the offender received the proper number of votes and the Department's office of Legal Services will verify that it qualifies under Barton. At that point, the case is sent to the Board for ratification and any conditions of Parole may be imposed.

In addition, the Board may not go back to consider prior or subsequent hearings. This clearly defeats the holding in Barton and transforms the Barton hearing into an ordinary parole hearing, which is directly contrary to Barton and the Board's own procedural policy.

An arbitrary and capricious agency decision “is without rational basis, is based only on one’s will and not upon any course of reasoning and exercise of judgment, is made at pleasure, without adequate determining principles, or is governed by no fixed rules of principles.” Timmier v. S.C. Dep’t of Labor, Licensing & Regulation, 405 S.C. 239, 246, 746 S.E. 2d 491, 495 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting Deese v. S.C. State Board of Dentistry, 286 S.C. 182, 184-85, 332 S.E. 2d 539, 541 (Ct. App. 1985)). An agency decision is an abuse of discretion when the decision is based upon a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support. Trident Med. Ctr. v. S.C. Department of Health & Envtl. Control, 412 S.C. 341, 348, 772 S.E. 2d 177, 181 (Ct. App. 2015). Clearly the Board’s decision was arbitrary and capricious.

The Appellant argues that the ALC’s decision should be reversed because the ALC “made itself the determining body regarding parole” thereby usurping the authority given the Parole Board by the General Assembly. The Appellant’s argument should be rejected as it mischaracterizes the ALC’s decision.